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Motion to Dismiss Indictment 

 
 Now comes Peter Hendrickson, Defendant herein, by and through his counsel, Ellen Dennis, and 

files this Motion to Dismiss Indictment. 

 Defendant states as follows: 

1. Concurrence with this motion was sought from Assistant United States Attorney Michael Leibson by 

counsel for Defendant on January 12, 2009. Concurrence was denied.  

2. Defendant is charged in ten counts as follows: (1) Counts One through Four charge that Defendant 

willfully filed a false IRS form 1040 for the calendar years 2000, 2002, 2003, 2004, in violation of 26 

U.S.C. § 7601(1). (2) Counts Five through Ten charge Defendant with willfully filing a false IRS 

form 4852 for calendar years 2000, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006; in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 

7601(1). 
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3. This indictment should be dismissed as a Fifth Amendment denial of due process and as a violation of 

the First Amendment protections of free speech because it represents a selective and vindictive 

prosecution motivated by a desire on the part of the government to end the distribution of a book 

written by Defendant in 2003, entitled Cracking the Code, The Fascinating Truth About Taxation in 

America, and sold through his website, http://www.losthorizons.com and elsewhere. 

4. This indictment should be dismissed as a denial of Fifth Amendment due process and as a violation of 

the First Amendment protections of free speech because it represents an attempt to chill Defendant’s 

right to contradict the statement made by the entity which has paid him money, as to the character of 

that money, i.e. that it is “wages” as defined in the tax laws or to express an honest disagreement with 

representatives of the United States as to his legal obligations under the tax laws of the United States.  

5. The rationale for this motion is more fully discussed in the brief accompanying this motion. 

 Wherefore, for the reasons stated above, Defendant asks this honorable court to dismiss the 

indictment. 

        Respectfully submitted,  

 

        /s/Ellen Dennis (P-24400) 
        Law Office of Ellen Dennis 
        Attorney for Defendant Hendrickson 

       101 S. Ann Arbor St., Ste. 203A 
       Saline, Michigan 48176 

        734 944-5819 
        l_den1947@yahoo.com 
        
 
Dated: January 15, 2009 
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Brief in Support of Motion to Dismiss Indictment 

Statement of Facts 

 During the period 2000 - 2006, Defendant, Peter Hendrickson (“Defendant” or “Hendrickson”), 

was working for Personnel Management, Inc. a private sector company, whose business did not involve 

the exercise of any privilege given by the federal government.  

 In August, 2001, Hendrickson filed federal form 1040 for calendar year 2000. In it he reported 

information as reflected on the w-2 form which had been prepared and submitted to the IRS by 

representatives of Personnel Management, Inc. As he had done for many preceding years, Hendrickson 

signed the jurat after modification. The jurat then read, “Under penalties of perjury, I declare that I have 

examined this return and accompanying schedules and statements, and to the best of my knowledge and 

belief, they are true and correct, and complete except insofar as the term ‘income’ is misused herein. 

(modified portion italicized). The IRS wrote to Hendrickson in October, 2001, rejecting the 1040 for 2000 

and demanding that an unmodified jurat be signed. Hendrickson did not sign as demanded, but instead 

inquired as to why the agency was insistent that he endorse the application of the term “income” to his 

earnings. The IRS gave no explanation and apparently then considered Hendrickson’s 1040 for calendar 

year 2000 “unfiled”. 

 Thereafter, Hendrickson began an extensive study of the United States tax laws. This study 

culminated in Hendrickson writing and publishing a book entitled Cracking the Code The Fascinating 

Truth About Taxation in America. 1This book is over 250 pages long and is now in its tenth printing. 

 In Cracking the Code, Hendrickson first discussed the constitutional history of federal taxing 

authority. Article I, Section 9[4] of the United States Constitution provides as follows: “No capitation, or 

other direct, Tax shall be laid, unless in Proportion to the Census or Enumeration herein before directed 

to be taken.” In other words, although indirect taxes on taxable activity, such as tariffs and other excise 

taxes, were permitted under the Constitution, direct taxes could only be imposed in accordance with 

                                                      
1 Cracking the Code is too long to attach as an exhibit to this motion, but it will be offered as an exhibit in support of 
the motion at the motion hearing. 
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Article I, Section 9[4]. Cracking the Code included in the Appendix an example of a lawful direct tax 

from 1798. (Exhibit I). Citing to Pollock v. Farmers’ Loan & Trust, 157 U.S. 429, 15 S.Ct. 673, 39, L.Ed. 

759 (1895) [Pollock I] and Pollock v. Farmers’ Loan & Trust Co., 158 U.S. 601,15 S.Ct. 912, 39 L.Ed. 

1108 (1895) [Pollock II], Cracking the Code went on to maintain that in general, receipts derived from 

unprivileged, non-federally connected activities are not subject to direct taxation except in accordance 

with Article I, Section 9[4]. However, Cracking the Code explained that the voluntary, profitable exercise 

of federal government power or privileges, measured by the dollar value produced, such as the salaries of 

federal workers and officials, and profits from investment in federal entities and activities, are federally 

taxable by way of an indirect excise tax. Thus, if the United States enacted a law such as found at Exhibit 

1, the several states could satisfy the federal tax apportioned among them by assessing money from their 

residents through a tax on the money their residents earned as private sector workers (within the limits of 

their own Constitutional constraints), but the federal government could not itself impose such a tax 

directly upon individuals without violating Article I, Section 9[4]. 

 Cracking the Code recognized that the Sixteenth Amendment, providing that, “The Congress 

shall have the power to lay and collect taxes on incomes, from whatever source derived without 

apportionment among the several States, and without regard to any census or enumeration,” was ratified 

in 1913. However, Cracking the Code cited to Brushhaber v. United States, 240 U.S. 1, 36 S. Ct. 236, 60 

L.Ed. 493 (1916) and its numerous progeny for the proposition that the Sixteenth Amendment did not 

conflict with or repeal Article I, Section 9[4] and did not “purport to confer power to levy income taxes in 

a generic sense. . .” because that power was already possessed by Congress under Article I, so long as the 

prohibitions against capitations, found at Article I, Section 9[4] were adhered to.  

 Cracking the Code then discussed certain tax statutes enacted by Congress in light of these 

Constitutional provisions.  Relevant to the prosecution of Defendant are the provisions of 26 U.S.C.§ 

3401, which provide, in pertinent part, that,  
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 §3401 (a) Wages  

 For purposes of this chapter, the term “wages” means all remuneration 
(other than fees paid to a public official) for services performed by an 
employee for his employer, including the cash value of all remuneration 
(including benefits) paid in any medium other than cash; except that such 
term shall not include remuneration paid—  

 (c) Employee  

              For purposes of this chapter, the term “employee” includes an officer, 
employee, or elected official of the United States, a State, or any political 
subdivision thereof, or the District of Columbia, or any agency or 
instrumentality of any one or more of the foregoing. The term “employee” 
also includes an officer of a corporation.  

 

 Interpreting these definitions according to the rule of statutory construction that the inclusion of 

one excludes all others, and citing to United States Supreme Court authority, Cracking the Code 

concluded that an individual whose activities are merely those of common right, such as those working 

for remuneration in the private sector, as opposed to an individual who earned remuneration as a result of 

the voluntary exercise of a federal privilege, was not an “employee” and the remuneration he earned was 

not “wages”, as those terms of art are defined in the tax laws. To Cracking the Code, these interpretations 

of the relevant tax statute definitions were supported by the legislative history of the statutes, case law 

regarding whether the term “includes” is a term of limitation or expansion 2, and, most significantly, by 

the Constitutional provisions prohibiting capitations or other direct taxes, unless in Proportion to the 

Census or Enumeration, while approving indirect or excise taxes on the exercise of a privilege, measured 

by the dollar value of the privileged activity (that is “income”). 

 After coming to these legal conclusions, which he discussed fully in Cracking the Code, and on 

his website, http//www.losthorizons.com, Hendrickson acted on them by filing for calendar years 2000, 

2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, and 2006 rebutting forms 4852 in which he stated his belief that the “wages” 

reported by Personnel Management, Inc on the w-2s for those years were incorrect and the correct figure 

for those years was zero, attached to an amended 1040 for calendar year 2000 and 1040s for 2002, 2003, 
                                                      
2 One such case is that of Mobley v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue, 532 F.3d 491 (6th Cir. 2008) in which the 
United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit considered whether the definition of “courts” in 28 U.S.C.§610, 
which lists certain courts included in the definition, therefore excluded those courts not specifically listed and 
decided that all courts not listed were excluded from the definition. 
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and 2004, in which he correspondingly declared on line 7, zero “wages” and completed the rest of the 

form in similar strict compliance with its instructions.3  Within months of his filing for 2002 (and of the 

publication of Cracking the Code) the IRS refunded the money that had been withheld by Personnel 

Management, Inc., thus, in Hendrickson’s mind, confirming the validity of his filing.   

 Thousands of other individuals read the analysis of the tax laws set forth in Cracking the Code, 

and some of them also filed tax forms consistent with that analysis.4 As a result, the Internal Revenue 

Service has issued millions in refund checks to filers who had claimed that money was improperly 

withheld. The IRS began declaring arguments purportedly found in the Cracking the Code, as 

(mis)interpreted by the IRS, to be frivolous5. It has also attacked the book indirectly through summons 

enforcement actions and lawsuits against Hendrickson and others. Some summonses to third parties have 

been enforced, but, significantly, three directed to Hendrickson himself, in support of a 2004 IRS 

investigation under Section 6700 and 7408 of the Internal Revenue Code, relating to penalties and an 

injunction action for promoting abusive tax shelters, were voluntarily withdrawn by the IRS in the middle 

of litigation concerning them. See. United States v. Peter Hendrickson, Case No. 04-73591 (E.D. Mich. 

2004), Peter Henderson v. United States, 04-00177 (N.D. Cal 2004), and United States v. Peter 

Hendrickson, 04-72323 (E.D. Mich. 2004). Nonetheless, the IRS continues to issue refund checks to 

individuals who have filed their own tax returns in light of the analysis set forth in Cracking the Code. 

Many of these refunds have been issued only after protracted IRS/ filer interaction.    

 Despite its attacks upon the arguments set forth in Cracking the Code, and its depiction of them as 

frivolous, the IRS has never, by engaging with Hendrickson directly in conversation and discussion or 

through any of the various civil proceedings, seriously reviewed the analysis set forth in Cracking the 

                                                      
3 It should be noted that during those years he repeatedly disputed with the entity which paid him for work 
performed the amounts the entity reported in the w-2s it filed for him. 
4 It should be noted that Cracking the Code did not advocate or promote any particular actions. It insisted that an 
individual who has taxable income is subject to the income tax, and it specifically disclaimed any intent that any 
reader should rely upon the book as for instructions or advice. 
5 The IRS publication, Frivolous Tax Arguments in General, found at the IRS official website, lists 24 arguments 
deemed frivolous by the IRS. None of these, even the one expressly referring to Cracking the Code and a 2007 civil 
decision against Hendrickson, actually analyze and refute the arguments set forth in Cracking the Code.   
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Code or explained to Hendrickson or to any court exactly why, in its view, it is flawed. Although a few 

courts have referred to portions of positions similar to some taken in Cracking the Code as frivolous, no 

court decisions have been found which expressly ruled that the positions lacked merit after actually 

considering in detail the supporting analysis set forth in Cracking the Code, and discussing in what way it 

is flawed.  

 Therefore, when filing the IRS forms which he is charged with having willfully falsified, 

Hendrickson remained convinced that his interpretation of his tax obligations was correct and, indeed, the 

only Constitutionally permitted interpretation. Thus, he remained honestly convinced that his statements 

on the forms 1040s and 4852s were true and accurate. 

Argument 

1. This indictment should be dismissed as a Fifth Amendment denial of due process and as a 
violation of the First Amendment protections of free speech because it represents a selective and 
vindictive prosecution motivated by a desire on the part of the government to end the distribution of a 
book written by Defendant in 2003 entitled Cracking the Code and sold through his website, Lost 
Horizons.com and elsewhere. 
 

 Although many thousand of individuals have filed income tax returns stating that they have 

received zero “wages”, when the w-2s filed by representatives of the entity for which they worked 

reported some amount of “wages”, and many hundreds have received refunds of money withheld after 

filing form 4852 and related 1040, very few have been challenged, even civilly, and even fewer have been 

prosecuted. See, for example, list of refunds listed in http//www.losthorizons.com/tax/MoreVictories, 

some of which were included in discovery provided by the government.  Hendrickson has been selected 

for prosecution because he exercised his free speech right to write a book discussing and explaining his 

interpretation of the tax laws of the United States. This is shown by the high volume of refunds which 

have been reported to http//www.losthorizons.com/tax/MoreVictories over the course of many years, and 

which are acknowledged by the government, coupled with evidence of very few tax prosecutions. 

Moreover, the government achieved a ruling against Hendrickson in a 2007 civil case in the Eastern 

District of Michigan., United States v. Peter Hendrickson, Case No. 07-1510. (This case still has a 
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petition for a writ of certiorari to the United States Supreme Court pending). Nevertheless, the 

government has chosen to prosecute Hendrickson for alleged offenses that occurred years before the IRS 

first seriously pursued a civil remedy against him.  

 The United States Supreme Court in Wayte v. United States, 479 U.S. 598, 105 S. Ct. 1524, 84 

L.Ed. 2d 547 (1985), discussed a claim of selective prosecution in a selective service prosecution. While 

acknowledging that the prosecutor has broad discretion as to whom to prosecute, it also noted that such 

discretion is not unfettered and is subject to constitutional constraints. In order to obtain discovery of 

evidence supporting a claim of selective prosecution, a defendant must present some evidence of 

discriminatory effect and some evidence of discriminatory intent. United States v. Armstrong, 517 U.S. 

456 (1996); United States v. Bass, 266 F.3d 532 (6th Cir. 2001). Here, Defendant, almost alone, has been 

selected for prosecution from a broad universe of individuals who have contradicted w-2 reported 

“wages” through filing form 1040s and form 4852s. The government has an obvious, but impermissible, 

motive. That is to curtail Hendrickson’s exercise of his free speech right to write, publish and distribute 

his book analyzing the tax laws of the United States. The IRS has displayed this motive, among other 

ways, by its abandoned 2004 investigation into the possibility of penalizing Hendrickson for promoting 

an abusive tax shelter and the possibility of obtaining an injunction against Cracking the Code. Having 

abandoned a direct attack on Hendrickson’s free speech rights, it is now attacking those rights indirectly 

through this selective and vindictive prosecution.  

 Hendrickson asks that the court conduct a hearing into the question of the selective, vindictive 

prosecution of him and that he be permitted to conduct discovery of the government prior to the hearing.  
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2. This indictment should be dismissed as a denial of Fifth Amendment due process and as a 
violation of the First Amendment protections of free speech because it represents an attempt to chill 
Defendant’s right to contradict the statement made by the entity which has paid him money as to the 
character of that money, i.e. that it is “wages” as defined in the tax laws, or to express an honest 
disagreement with representatives of the United States as to his legal obligations under the tax laws of the 
United States.  
 

 As outlined above, for several years before the charged activity, Hendrickson was filing a tax 

return which was consistent with the w-2 “wages” reported to the IRS by the entity for which he was 

working. However, in these tax returns, Hendrickson consistently modified the formal jurat on the form 

1040 by adding a disclaimer that challenged the use of the term “income”. When pressed by the IRS to 

sign the usual form jurat, he submitted a more complex affidavit setting forth his understanding of the 

truth. He also consistently requested the entity for which he was working to “please ensure that nothing is 

listed as ‘wages’ which does not conform to the strict legal definitions of ‘wages’ within Title 26 USC. 

Despite Hendrickson’s attempt to file a lawful tax return, the IRS refused to accept his return for calendar 

year 2000, and it was apparently deemed unfiled. Thereafter, Hendrickson made a more detailed study of 

the tax laws which culminated in the writing and publishing Cracking the Code. 

 The tax structure provides for each individual to declare under the penalties of perjury his or her 

belief as to whether, and to what extent, he/she earned “wages” or acquired other “income” within the 

meaning of the Internal Revenue Code. The IRS’s inability to itself determine tax owed and then to assess 

it (much as the State of Michigan determines and assesses property tax owed) is the root of the difficulty 

faced by an individual such as Defendant. The standard form 1040 requires the filer to state, “Under the 

penalties of perjury, I declare that I have examined this return and accompanying schedules and 

statements, and to the best of my knowledge and belief, they are correct, and complete.”  The IRS 

insistence that a filer sign this jurat, in order to comply with the law, puts a filer, such as Hendrickson, 

who has a genuine disagreement with information contained in a w-2, in a position in which he cannot, 

without violating the standard jurat, file a form 1040 which reports “wages” consistent with a w-2 that has 

been submitted to the IRS by the entity for which he was working. In effect, the IRS position forces such 
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a filer either to file a false jurat, thus incurring the penalties of perjury, or to file a form 1040 which, 

together with form 4852, contradicts the w-2. This is a free speech and due process issue.  

   When the government elects to prosecute a filer, such as Hendrickson, because he will not, 

according to his beliefs, swear falsely on a form 1040 or a form 4852, that is a denial of his free speech 

rights and a denial of due process warranting dismissal of the indictment.  

 Wherefore, for the reasons stated above, Defendant asks this honorable court to dismiss the 

indictment. 

        Respectfully submitted,  

 

        /s/Ellen Dennis (P-24400) 
        Law Office of Ellen Dennis 
        Attorney for Defendant Hendrickson 

       101 S. Ann Arbor St., Ste. 203A 
       Saline, Michigan 48176 

        734 944-5819 
        l_den1947@yahoo.com 
        
 
 
Dated: January 15, 2009 
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Certificate of Service 
 

I hereby certify that on January 15, 2009, I electronically filed the foregoing paper with the Clerk 

of the Court using the ECF system which will send notification of such filing to the following:  

Michael C. Leibson 
Assistant U.S. Attorney 
211 W. Fort St., Ste. 2001 
Detroit, MI 48226 
Michael.leibson@usdoj.gov 
 
and 
 

 Mark F. Daly, MA Bar No. 640581 
 United States Department of Justice, Tax Division 
 P.O. Box 972 
 Washington, D.C. 20530 

mark.f.daly@usdoj.gov 
 

    

        

       /s/Ellen Dennis_(P-24400)______________ 
       Law Office of Ellen Dennis 
       Attorney for Defendant Arlee 

      101 S. Ann Arbor St., Ste. 203A 
      Saline, Michigan 48176 

       734 944-5819 
       l_den1947@yahoo.com 
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